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WITHOUT PUBLICATION. Had we chose NO PUBLICA-
TION WITHOUT EXCAVATION, I should never have had
anything published at all ! Despite our motto, our forma-
tion early in 1962 was greeted with rhetorical question by
a former President of one of the adjoining county archaeo-
logical societies: ‘what reason have we to think that this
upstart group would ever publish anything that they did?’.
We took that rhetorical question as a challenge and forth-
with persuaded the Extra-Mural Department of the Uni-
versity to sponsor a course of six lectures on ‘The Prepa-
ration of Archaeological Reports’ ¢ 1 by Philip Rahtz
Alan Warhurst and myself. The result, after suitable edi-
ting, was published at first as a cyclostyled booklet in 1962,
2nd edition 1963, and later as a proper hardback book
published by John Baker in 1966. Later still it was re-
written under slightly different authorship and published
as a handsome quarto hardback volume by Adam & Charles
Black, under the imprint John Baker whose business had
taken over by them, in 1974, and there was an An .an
edition about the same time or shortly afterwards. The
English edition is now out of 1t but I feel that a new
edition should be edited by someone younger than myself.

Because of the limited space, we have had to confine
ourselves to the display of those of our publications' h
are still in print. I would however suggest that our Survey
and Policy, Part I to 1066, Part II from 1066, is still well
worth reading as a guide to outstanding problems. The
changing approaches of the last 25 years will have doubt-
less created as many problems again.

In thanking you for listening to me so patiently, I now
leave you free to continue viewing the display or to socia-
lize as you wish.

* Shortly after giving this speech, Dr. Green was promoted
Keeper of Archaeology there - Ed.

LV.G.

N. Thorpas wishes to point out that he has never been - and
never will be - President of the Museums Association - Ed.
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LVG : a selected Bibliography, 1972 to the present day.
As promised in Bristol and Avon Archaeology 5, the vol-
ume dedicated to Leslie Grinsell, this bibliography of his
main writings is published as a continuation of the record
of his published works in Archaeology and the Landscape,
1972. Essentially, the only items omitted (in itself a not
inconsiderable and interesting list) have been letters and
reviews. Here is a remarkable record of the scholarly out-
put of a man officially ‘in retirement’!

1972

“Perambulations of the Bounds of Mendip Parishes”. Notes

Queries Somerset Dorset 29,212-213.
1973

With R.W. Knight and Charles Browne, ‘“Prehistoric Skele-
tons from T irton, Glos.” Trans. Bristol Gloucester-
shire Archaeol. Soc. 91, 14-17.

The Folklore of Stanton Drew. Toucan Press, Guernsey.

With C.E. Blunt, FBA and Michael Dolley, MRIA, Sylloge
of Cc of the British Isles 19, Bristol and Gloucester
Museums. British Academy, London.

The Bath Mint. Spink & Son Ltd., London.

“Witchcraft at Prehistoric Sites”. In ed. Venetia Newall,
The Witch Figure (in honour of K.M. Briggs), 72-79.

1974

“Disc-barrows”. Proc. Prehistoric Soc. 40, 79-112.

With P.A. Rahtz and D. Price Williams, The Preparation of
Archaeological Reports. John Baker.

“A Viking Burial in a Stone Coffin in Bath”. Notes Queries
Somerset Dorset 30, 67.

“A Bath Penny of the Benediction Hand Type of Aethelred
II, Spink’s Numis. Circ. 82, 339.

1975

Barrow, Pyramid and Tomb. TI
1976, paperback edition, 1977).

Ancient Burial Mounds of England. Reprint of 1953 edn,
with fresh introduction, and bibliography 1953-1973.
Greenwood Inc., Westport, Conn.

1976

“Legendary History and Folklore of Stonehenge”. Folklore
87, 5-20.

Legendary History and Folklore of Stonehenge., Toucan
Press, Guernsey.

Folklore of Prehistoric Sites in Britain. David & Charles.

Prehistoric Sites in the Quantock Country. Somerset Archae-
ol. Natur. Hist. Soc., Taunton.

“Folklore of Prehistoric Sites in Britain”. IX UILS.P.P.
Congress, Nice. 1, 12.

5 & Hudson (issued in

1977

With F. Neale, “Notes on the Medieval Mints in Bath and
Bristol”. Spink’s Numis. Circ. 85, 210.

With Owen Legg, Cut in the Chalk. Tonbridge. (Folio vol-
ume, limited edition: chalk hill figures, description
(LVG) and linocuts).

Barrgw, Pyramid and Tomb. Thames & Hudson. Paperback
edn.

1978

The Rollright Stones and their Folklore. Toucan Press,
Guernsey.

The Druids and Stonehenge: the Story of a Myth. Toucan
Press, Guernsey.

The Stonehenge Barrow Groups. Salisbury Museum.

Piramidi, Necropoli & Mondi Sepolti. Italian edition of
Barrow, Pyramid and Tomb, updated text. Rome. New-
ton Compton Editore.

“The Development of Local Archaeology in the City Mus-
eum, Bristol, until 1952”. Bristol Archaeol. Res. Gp.
Bull. 6, No. 5, 120-121.
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“Exmoor antiquities in popular tradition”. Exmoor Review
20 (dated 1979, issued Nov. 1978), 62-63.

“The Continuing Need for BARG™. Bristol Archaeol. Res.
Gp. Bull. 6, No. 6, 149-151.

“Dartmoor Barrows”. Proc. Devonshire Archaeol. Soc. 36,
85-180.

1979

Barrows in England and Wales. Shire Archaeologies.

“Notes on the Folklore of Prehistoric Sites in Britain”.
Folklore 90, 66-70.

1980

“The Cerne Abbas Giant: 1764-1980"Antiquity 54, 29-33.

Earlier Medieval Sites in and around Bristol and Bath (Editor
and part author). B.A.R.G. Field Guide 3A.

“Thomas Hardy and the Giant of Cerne Abbas”. Notes
Queries Somerset Dorset 31, 38,

* ..e Druid Stoke Megalithic Monument”. Trans. Bristol
Gloucestershire Archaeol. Soc. 97,119-121.

“Barrows in the County of Avon”, Avon Past 3, 5-7.

“A Cen. _ of the Study of the Folklore of Archaeological
Sites”. In ed.. Venetia Newall, Folklore Studies in the
Twentieth Century, 213-216.

1981

“Exploring Prehistoric Menorca”. Popular Archaeology 3,
No. 1, 28-31.

“The Naveta of Els Tudons”. A ntiquity 55, 196-199.

1982

“The Stone at Snivelling Corner, Ashbury”. Trans. Newbury
Dist. Fld. Club 12, No. 6, 54-55.

Mitchell’s Fold Stone Circle and its Folklore. Toucan Press,
Guernsey.

Exmoor’s Archaeology: Early Man. Exmoor National Park
Department.

Belas Knap Long Barrow. Revised edition. Department of
the Environment.

Stoney Littleton Long Barrow. Revised edition. Department
of the Environment.

With Dorothy igton, “Folklore of Archaeological
Sites in Cor: lklore 93, 61-69.

“Wessex Bronze Age Round Barrows since 1930”. C nt
Archaeol. 81,313-314.

“The Later History of Ty Illtud Long Barrow™. Archaeol.
Cambrensis 130 (1981), 131-139.

Prehistoric Sites on Mendip. B.A.R.G. Folder Guide.

Dorset Barrows Supplement. D :t Natur. Hist. Archaeol.
Soc., Dorchester.

1983

“Priddy Nine Barrows: a ‘Correction’ Corrected”. Proc.
Somerset Archaeol. Natur. Hist. Soc. 127, 103-104.

“Stanton Drew: from Folk Tradition to the New Archaeo-

logy”. Avon Past 8, 4-8.

“Peter Orlando Hutchinson: a Devon Antiquary”. iqui
57, 126-127. Hauary™ Antiquity

“Peter Orlando Hutchinson: His Advice on B
The Devon Historian 26, 23.

Discpvering Roman Britain (part author). Shire Archaeolo-
gies.

“The Barrows of South and East Devon’. Proc. Devon-
shire Archaeol. Soc. 41, 546.

1984

“The Popular Names and Folklore of Prehistoric Sites in
Menorca”. Folklore 95, 90-99.

Barlrmys in England and Wales. 2nd Edition. Shire Archaeo-
ogies.

w-Digging”.

1985

“Hangman’s Stones and their Traditions”. Folklore 96,
217-222.

“Out with the Prehistorians”. Current Archaeol. 95, Jan.,
362-365.

The Stanton Drew Stone Circles and Associated Monu-
ments. Folder Field Guide. Bristol Avon Res. Gp.

“Making a Local Barrow Study”. In ed. J.F. Dyer, Archaeo-
logy and Death, 11-13. C.B.A.

“Bronze Age Artifacts in Avon”. Bristol Avon Archaeol.

4,25,
1986

“Carrying Flint Cores to Mendip”. Lithics 6, for 1985,
15-17.

“Rainbarrows and Thomas Hardy”. Thomas Hardy Journ.
II, 2, 59-61.

The Bristol Mint. City of Bristol Museum and Art Gallery.

1987

“John Jarmain and Priddy Barrows”. Notes Queries Somerset
Dorset 32, 594-595.

“A Beaker from a Cairn at Thornworthy, Chagford”. Trans.
Procs. Torquay Natur. Hist. Soc. XIX (iv), 180-181.

“Bronze Age Settlement and Burial Ritual”. In eds. Michael
Aston and Rob Iles, The Archaeology of Avon, 29-39.
Avon County Council.

“The Mints of Bath and Briste1” Inibid, 173-175.

“The Lower Bristol Avon as ¢ __oroughfare from Prehistoric
Times to the Norman Conquest”. Bristol Avon Archaeol.
5,24.

«“The Christianization of Prehistoric and Other Pagan Sites”.
Landscape Hist. 8,27-37.

“Surrey Barrows: A Reappraisal 1934-1986”. Surrey Arch-
aeol. Colins. 78, 1-41.

1988

“Somerset B vs: Revisions 1971-87”. Proc. Somerset
Archaeol. and Natur. Hist. Soc. 131, forthcoming.

“Alfred Watkins and the Old Straight Track”. Trans. Wool-
hope Natur. Field Club, forthcoming.



vOMESDAY Kr.YNSHAM :
A Retrospective Examination of an Old English Royal Estate

M. Whittock

The Domesday survey contains a fairly detailed reference
to an Old English royal estate (‘manerium’) at Cainesham
(Keynsham). According to the survey this estate had
belonged to Queen Edith. Edith, who died in 1075, had
been the wife of King Edward in 1066. She had held a num-
har of estates, in her own right, in the shire of Somerset.
_1ese estates were: Milverton, Martock, Keynsham, Chew-
ton Mendip, Batheaston and Bath. Of these estates, that
at Keynsham was the largest in stated area. It was rated
at 50 ‘hides’ for taxation purposes. The word hide was
used rather flexibly in 15 of area and so it is difficult
to reduce it to an exact number of acres or hectares. How-
ever using the rough guide of 1 hide = 120 acres would give
an estate of about 6000 acres.

The lack of a charter and perambulation for the estate
at Keynsham makes it difficult to plot the extent of the
estate with certainty. Any attempt to define the boundaries
must therefore be regarded as hypothetical.

In attempting to construct a boundary, that is in ‘nce
Old English, the information recorded in the Domesday
survey must be combined with other sources of informa-
tion. That done it should be possible to attempt the follow-
ing tasks:

(1) The boundaries of the units of the estate can be
plotted.

(2) The settlement pattern can be outlined with regard
to those settlements contemporary with the Old
English estate.

(3) Something of the topography of the estate can be
suggested by plotting those topographical features
whose names and locations have survived from the
0Old English period.

(4) The overall resc distributions of the estate can be
shown in terms of their spatial distribution by mapping
them with regard to the units of the estate.

The term ‘units’ has been used advisedly as the Domes-
day survey indicates that the pre conquest estate was made
up of at least 4 major settlements (here termed units).
These Old English units were:

Keyn®~ | : recorded in 1086 as Cainesham, Old English
Caeginesham.

Belluton recorded in 1086 as Beleton, Old English
Belgetun(?)

Stanton recorded in 1086 as Stantone, Old English
Stantun and probably named, by English
settlers, after the stone circles.

Burnett recorded in the Exeter Domesday Book as

‘a manor called Bernet’ and belonging to
Wulward White’s wife.”  Old English form
of the place name wouid probably have

been Baernet.
To these 4 principal units should also be added the
parcels of land held by the Bishop of C~tances in 1086
and Aelfric in 1086 (Wulmer in 1066). ... location of

the latter parcel of land is likely to have been in the vicinity
of the Keynsham unit. This location is assisted by other
evidence contained wit  the Tax Returns for 1084
appended to the Exeter pwomesday. The 1 hide of land
in question was designated as ‘thane land’ in the Exeter
manuscript. Thaneland was land capable of supporting
a member of the Old English gentry. It may be that the
granting of thaneland here . a deliberate attempt to
locate a man, owing military service, at the heart of the
estate.

The later analysis of resource distribution will serve to
justify this singling out of the Keynsham unit for special
attention. It is clear that this unit formed the core, or head,
unit of the Old English estate and that the other 3 units
served a more peripheral g as subsidiary units. In this
sense the Keynsham manerium may be termed a multiple
estate even if it does not rival other, much larger, Old
English multiple estates (such as that at Bath with its 100
hides). For these factors expressed in the form of a model
see Fig. 2.

Another reason for stressing the ‘multiple’ nature of the
estate is the possibility that the manerium was built up over
the centuries before 1066 by the addition of successive
units. There is some reason for believing that, whilst the
head unit was at Keynsham, the subsidiary units were not
originally part of the estate. Firstly it should be remem-
bered that the Keynsham unit would have made up a
sizeable estate in its own right. The suggestion that it may
have at some time lacked the subsidiary units would not
undermine its economic viability. Secondly the extinction
of the through Roman road may indicate that the original
estate was not structured in the form revealed in 1086.

THE BOUNDARY OF THE ESTATE
The various units of the estate may well be represented by
the later ecclesiastical parishes and tithings. If this is so, and
it is a fair hypothesis, then the Keynsham unit can be
plotted as ‘A’ on Fig. 1. The Belluton unit is more difficult
to plot since it did not give rise to a later administrative
unit. It is plotted as ‘B’ and this suggests that the eastern
part of the later parish of Stanton Drew was combined with
what later became the parish of Publow. The extensive
nature of the Belluton unit is revealed by the fact that it
pot | a mill, which indicates that it stretched as far as
the river Chew. The Stanton unit is plotted as ‘C’ and
follows the later parish boundary. The area ‘D’ represents
the tithing of Burnett and it is possible that this grew out
of the pre conauest estate unit. The area ‘A 1’ (Charlton)
was probably _ of the Keynsham unit. Area ‘A 2’ (Bris-
lington) may also have been linked to the Keynsham unit.
The extent of the royal estate (outlined above) can be
checked against other forms of evidence. In 1405 a com-
position between the abbey and the vicar at Keynsham
listed chapels dependent on Keynsham. It is possible that
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r.XCAVA11IONS IN Bki>1OL IN 1985-6
. Burchill, M.Coxah, A.Nicholson & M.ronsford

The work reported here was carried out by the field staff
of a Manpower Services Commission Community Pro-
gramme scheme entitled ‘Recording Bristol Past’ super-
vised by Bristol City Council through the Archaeology
section of the City Museum and Art Gallery and adminis-
tered by Employment Initiatives, the city’s agency. The
work originally planned was the excavation of threz =:d
areas of the important late medieval and Renaissance site of
Acton Court. Iron Acton. That project was put out to
tender by E; sh Heritage to a selected number of units
without reference to the City Museum. As a result the
scheme was left without a planned programme of work.
Despite this setback it was possible to generate a year’s
project composed of four rescue excavations in Bristol
and trial excavations on two shrunken medieval settlements
north of the city. The first three authors named supervised
the work under the general direction of M. Ponsford who
alone is responsible for editing this version. The sites, with
their Bristol City Museum and Art Gallery codes (BRSMG)
were:

Somerset Street, Redcliffe, Bristol 56/1985
Buchanan’s Wharf, Redcliffe, Bristol ~ 60/1985
Elm F:  Charlton, Almondsbury 14/1986
The Glen, Westbury, Bristol 53/1986

Springfort House, Stoke Bishop, Bristol 54/1986
Harry Stoke, Stoke Gifford 80/1986

The reports presented here were compiled using the
minimum data necessary to arrive at a reasonable inter-
pretation of the evidence. For further information the
site records may be consulted in archive in the collections
of the City Museum by quoting the relevant accession
number. It is hoped to publish reports on the other sites
in Northavon in a forthcoming issue of BAA..The principal
authors of each report or section are indicated by their
initials,

EXCAVATIONS AT SO......SET STREET, RED-
CLIFF, BRISTOL (M C).

An excavation was carried out on the site formerly occu-
pied by the Caxton Printing Works in the parish of St.
Mary Redcliffe in the autumn of 1985. The available area
approximately 2.5ha in size, was bounded by Temple Gate,
Clarence Road, Somerset Street and Redliff Mead Lane
and occupied the south-east slope of the hill of Redcliffe
(ST 5945 7225). Of this a total area of 400m? was excava-
ted (figures 1 and 2).

Although outside the walled area of Bristol it was
thought possible that there might be evidence for medieval
and later industrial activity. The glasshouses on Prewett
Street and Red Lane and Price and Powell’s stoneware
factory at Temple Gate might also have made use of the
area for industrial dumping (Witt, Weeden and Schwind
1984 37f; Pountney 1920, 249-50).

The geology is Triassic sandstone (Mercian Mudstone)
varying in height between 17m to the west and 9m A.O.D.
near the New Cut of the river Avon. The site had been
altered by terracing for the print works in the 1960s and
rubble deposition after demolition.

From cartographic evidence there is little to show
that there was anything but meadow (Redcliff Mead)
until the 17th century. The road through Temple Gate
diverged here, the major branch forming the Bath Road,
the western one to be known as Red Lane by 1710. At the
junction of Red Lane and Pile Street was a glasshouse
drawn on Millerd’s plan of 1710 (Accession No.:BRSMG:M
767) or Kip’s view from the south of 1717 (Accession No.
BRSMG:M 387). Building had commenced by 1780 for in
Richard Benning’s updated plan there are developments
on either side of ‘Cathay’ with Somerset Square to the
south. Somerset Street was there by 1828 according to
Plumley and Ashmead’s plan, with a glasshouse at the top
or north end. To the east was the parallel Colston Street
and Arnold’s the parchment-makers’ fronting Red Lane.
By Ashmead’s update of 1833 Chatterton Square had been
added t» the south of the former parchment-makers’ which
was now a yard since Arnold’s had moved to Bedminster by
1855 (Mathews 1855). On a City estates plan of 1855 the
floorcloth manufactory is clearly shown (Winstone 1968
12, map 84). In T.L.S. Rowbotham’s ~ : panoramic view
of Bristol from Pile Hill, Totterdown, of ¢ 1829, John
Hare’s important but little-known floorcloth manufactory
is plainly visible and also shown in Plumley and Ashmead’s
plan of 1833 east of a formal garden (figure 3;BRSMG;
register no.Mb 497 and 498). The factory had beer moved

m its former site in Temple Meads where the railway
station was built ¢ 1840.

Elton, Miles and Co.’s glass-house (formerly Perrott’s)
in Red Lane and Langton Street chapel (built ¢ 1820) are
also visible on the Rowbot] (Witt, Weeden and Schwind
1984, 37f.). From 1824 the giass-house was Powell’s stone-
ware factory. In 1906 it was pulled down for Mardon, Son
and Hall’s print factory, later rebuilt as their Caxton
House works in the 1960s.

---EEXCAV.___DN

The area was trial-trenched by mechanical excavator to,
assess its potential for further archaeological work (figure
2). Most trenches were abortive and the only ones to be
described here are O, A and B.

Trench O.

A substantial pit containing eighteenth-century stoneware
and kiln waste was recorded in section and the material
sampled (see finds below).

Trench A.
A trench 3m in width and 12m in length was excavated






within the area indicated by Millerd’s plan. Massive dis-
turbances for housing, factories and services had damaged
large areas of the available site. Only the two trenches
discussed were worthy of excavation below the destruction
deposits.

FINDS (RB)

Medieval pottery was found in the lowest deposit, the red-
brown loam, and consisted of abraded sherds of glazed
jugs (Bristol Pottery Type 118) and unglazed cooking pot
(BPT 46) in association with worn natural stones and
flint and gravel (see Price 1979 for a version of the Bristol
pottery type series). This material would appear to be
hillwashed or at least weathered. The buildings contained
19th-century wares, a few residual sherds of an earlier
date and a similar range of clay pipe fr _ ents (all listed
in archive).

The Stoneware Wasters

The maching of trenches E and O located two large dumps
of wasted stoneware sherds incorporated in other dumped
material (BPT 277). The unstable ground conditions and
the large volume of material made sampling essential.
Meaningful fragments have been selected from the collec-
tion for illustration and comment. In trench E the relevant
context is 101 and in trench O contexts 119 and 120. A
drawn section of the latter is in archive.

Fabric

Fabric 1. Most of the material in trench O was in a blue-
grey to off-white rather dense and fine-textured ware with
no visible inclusions at x10 magnification. There are fre-
quent tiny elongated holes. The glaze is usually applied
over an iron-rich wash on the upper half only, the colour
affected by the number of applications and often giving
the familiar aranse-skin effect. There is frequently a thin
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Plan of trenches at Somerset Street, Redcliff,
Bristol
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internal wash or a thicker one at the neck.

Fabric 2. Mostly found in ch E, it is a creamy-white,
rather coarse, more open and grainy material with red
inclusions, either as lumps or frequent red flecks. The
iron-rich wash tends to be more even than in fabric 1.
Fabric 3. Represented by one sherd, it is a grainy grey
fabric with frequent black flecks.

Forms.

The forms represented appear to be straight-sided tankards,
globular jars, jugs and bottles. Some of these of the familiar
large type stamped with the user’s name and town and
some straight-sided bottles.

A guantity of kiln debris, consisting largely of lumps
of fired clay coated in saltglaze, vessel separators and
saggers was also found but is not illustrated.

Wasted stoneware sherds, saggers and kiln debris have
also been recorded from Ship Lane, Redcliffe (figure 2;
Barton 1961). Whether the Somerset Street pottery is
from the same source is difficult to determine but there
are differences in glaze, decoration and form. The tan-
kards, which, as at Somerset Street are of pint and half-
pint size, have more complex mouldings and double reeds
are rare on the Somerset Street material (no. 7). The Ship
Lane pottery tends to have a browner, more pitted and
duller finish. The jar bases from that site also have rounded
foot-rings unlike the plain slightly chamfered bases of the
Somerset Street vessels. This may be seen as a chronological
feature as much as a typological one. There are more forms
among the Somerset Street material, including a range of
small cylindrical bottles and jars (nos. 21-25) and rilled-
neck jugs (nos. 8-9). No excise marks were found among
the Somerset Street sherds. Furt stoneware was found
in pit 10, Temple Back in 1974, excavated by the City
Museum, the forms confined to tankards and flagons, the
latter having similar foot-rings to those from Somerset

[
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Fig. 7
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Temple Gate Works ‘O/
( floor cloth)

The area near Somerset Street c18535.

Figure 9

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

Rim and neck of small bottle, white fabric, bright
glaze on iron wash. Context 101.2.

Rim and neck of large bottle, grey fabric. Twin
grooves on neck, even brown glaze, precise area of
wash on inside of neck. Context 101.71.

Neck of bottle, coarse creamy-white fabric, decorated
with three grooves, yellow-brown glaze. Precise area
of wash on inside of neck. Stamp on shoulder = 4
probably. Context 101.2.

Fragment of globular vessel in y-white fabric,
narrow strap handle, central groove, yellowish glaze,
brown blotches. Context 119.1.

Body fragment of large flagon in creamy-white
fabric with upper part of grooved strap handle,
orange-skin glaze, precise internal wash. Context
101.1.

Body fragment and wide strap 1 lle of globular
flagon in dense off-white fabric, wide strap handle
with central ridge, lower fixing heavily indented,
even brown external glaze and internal red wash.
Context 101.71.

32.

33.

34.

35.

Fragment of globular vessell, off-white fabric, blotchy
glaze, wide strap handle with two grooves and central
ridge, deeply indented. Below there would have been
a continuation of strip with further indent. ¢ ext
119.1.

Base fragment of a large vessel in thick unglazed
creamy-white fabric. Context 119.2.

Base of large vessel in grainy white fabric, badly-
fitting  ernal glaze. Context 101.2.

Body fragment of flagon in creamy white fabric
inscribed ‘ T Vine (G)osp(ort)? ’. Context 101.2.1
Examples like 33 and 34 also occur in diameters of
16,18,22 and 23 cms.

Creamware
All from context 101.

36.
37.
38.
39.
40.

Rim of large jar form, possibly a chamber.
Rounded rim of open bowl.

Rim fragment of scalloped-edge bowl.

Base of plate with foot-ring. Biscuit.

Base of cup/small bowl with foot-ring. Biscuit.
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Period 2

In this period BPT32 starts to predominate. One imported
sherd is in a whell-thrown quartzy fabric with an English-
looking glaze. The other is illustrated below and is probably
from Normandy. Both came from context 241. Since BPT
27 has not yet appeared a date no later than the later 12th
century seems appropriate.

Period 3

BPT 27 makes its | __arance alongside established
material such as Wiltshire tripod pitchers {®PT 18) and the
ubiquitous micaceous fabric, BPT 46. B. . 114 is notice-
ably decreasing in prop ion but the thick-walled ?indus-
trial ware BPT 305 continues. A date either side of 1200
is proposed for these contexts.

Period 4

BPT 32 continues to be common but BPT 118 (Redcliffe
jugs) begins to appear. It is thought that these wheelthrown
glazed jugs commence ¢ 1250 particularly as they are assoc-
iz | with Saintonge imports from the first. A single sherd
of Saintone green-glazed jug came from context 66.

Period 5

TI is a noticeable increase in all glazed wares. There is
still plenty of BPT 114 but this by now should be residual.
The imports are sherds of Saintonge green-glazed from
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edition 1884.

Fig. 17

contexts 147 and 150 and three sherds of BPT 192 in 156
(see Ponsford 1983 for BPT 192).

Period 7

Two sherds found in Context 10 (drain fill). These are a
bowl with internal slip paralleled by no. 54 from Narrow
Quay and a green-glazed large bowl in a micaceous fabric
normally attributed to southern Iberia (Good 1987). A
date in the late 16th -early 17th century would be approp-
riate for these.

CATALOGUE OF ILLUSTRATED SHERDS

Period 1

1. Rim, handle root and neck sherd of a glazed jug.
Squared rim with diamond rouletting on outside
edge, thick strap handle. Context 242. BPT 26.

2. Rim and bodv sherds of a glazed jug. The squared
rim has a Ole lip and diamond rouletting on the
outer edge and below. The body is decorated with
three-toothed wavy combing. Context 242, RPT 26,

3. Simple rim of a glazed jug. Context 299. L. . 26.

Period 2
4. Rim and body sherd. Rim thumbed inside. Combed
decoration on shoulder. ¢ text 241. BPT 32.
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BONE
10. Bone die of usual medieval type. Context 187. Period
3.

ANIMAL BONE

No work has been ¢ 1 out on this material to date
since it is a relatively small sample and has been super-
seded by those from the larger waterfront sites in Red-
cliff Street.

OYSTER
Common in most contexts, the same comments apply
as for the animal bone.
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ing occurred at regular intervals on both internal wall
faces t ighout the drain. The putlogs were voids of
c.l17c¢m square. The site of the Lesser Cloister west wall
was clearly defined by its bridging over the drain.

Contemporary with the north wall were two small
gutters made of oolitic limestone and a slightly larger
one to the west which were set high up in the wall (plate 7).
Three much larger outlets were found in the south watll.
These were defined with lintels and jambs of dressed oolite
and could be seen to continue for several metres to the
south. They presumably extended as far as the Canon’s
Marsh area if not to the river Avon itself.

T bottom of the drain at its west end was located at
c.5m below the playground level. After allowing for varia-
tions in the drain roof and cap-stones it is probable that the
top of the abbey drain was more or less contemporary with
the original ground level at the foot of a low cliff. This
would explain the large-scale construction of the drain and
also provide access for maintenance and cleaning. Later
branch drains and repointing of the walls reflect not only
its continuing use as a drain or so vay but also the
considerable skill and expertise of the original builders.

The limited time factor and tricted conditic at
the time allowed for only a basic investigation and re-
cording of this important feature. Further excavations and
a comprehensive record could be ¢ :d out in the futa

The construction of the 6th Form rooms and their
foundations did not disturb or damage either the lesser
cloister walls or the abbey drain. Both features are pre-
served intact as a result of the willing co-operation of the
contractors and architects. Other late features were recor-
ded, in particular a substantial stone wall running north-
south situated 1.5m to the east of the manhole. This wall
was found c.0.15m below the tarmac level. The wall is
shown on the Ordnance Survey plan of 1953 and also
on Paul’s 1 The mortar in the upper levels suggested
that the wall was of the late post-medieval period, but
this may have been a later rebuild on earlier foundations.

Most of the finds were recovered from the general
make-up layer for the playground and were of fairly re-
cent date. A fragment of carved oolitic limestone decora-
ted with chevrons had been built into the lower east face
of the standing wall, to the south of the Palliser Martin
Hall. A few sherds of Redcliffe and Ham Green ware
pottery along with animal bone and oyster shell were
found in the it between the cloister walls on the
west side. This layer may be stratified and could represent
either a make-up deposit for floor levels or a med t
midden deposit from the abbey pre-dating the building of
the Lesser Cloister. A sample of the lowest level of silt from
the drain was taken. Finds from that deposit included tin-
glazed sherds of the 18th century and pottery of more
recent date. All site records and finds are deposited in the
City of Bristol Museum and Art Gallery (Accession number
104/1987).
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The fabric of BPT 114 is similar to that of B cooking
pots but has larger quartz grits and frequent cal ous
inclusions. Surfaces are usually red or grey and feel sandy.

FORMS

1-2. Jugs (Fabric A - BPT 26) - Coil-built jugs with rims
made separately and finished on a table. Exti l
green glaze. Though shape and size can vary, typical
jugs are wide-bodied with plain bases, bridge spouts,
and narrow but thick strap handles, which often have
rouletting and sometimes round stabbed holes.
Typical decoration includes thumbed strips or rou-
letting at the rim, ledges at the neck and shoulder
with wavy combing and rouletting around the body.
Rouletting is often found just above the basal angle.

34. Jugs (Fabric B - BPT 27) - The general shapes are
narrower than fabric A jugs, with standard collared
rims, broader, thinner handles, and almost invariably
frilly bases. Decoration includes cross-hatching and
vertical and horizontal grooving, sometimes with
overlying applied decoration, which can be quite
elaborate, as for example in no 4 which shows a
decoration of ‘stick men’ around the body of the pot.

5. Cooking pots (Fabric B -BPT 32) - Hand-built cook-
ing pots, often with rims finished on a turntable.
Rims are often thumbed, and wavy combing, single
line grooving and vertical applied strips are common
body decoration. Bases sag and are typically knife-
trimmed.

6. Cooking pots (BPT 114) - Very similar to fabric B
cooking pots in form and decoration, but usually
with taller rims. ’

Tripod pitchers are known in fabric A, and unglazed bowls,

bee skeps and other forms in fabric B.

NORTH WILTSHIRE (l....-ETY) (Fig 2)

Vessels in this ware, thought to have been manufactured in
the area around Minety in North Wiltshire, were common
in the Bristol area from the 12th to the 15th century.

Grey to black fabric, sometimes with buff or pinkish-
buff surfaces. Many grains of rounded, often fossiliferous
limestone occur, though this is often burnt or leached out
internally leaving the surfaces pitted.

FORMS

7. Tripod pitchers (BPT 18) - Hand-built, large globular
jugs with tubular spouts a»4 three feet, and curved
strap handles with slashes. __.iin external green glaze,
often patchy. They often have combed line decora-
tion around body.

8. Cooking pots (BPT 84) - Wheel-thrown cooking pots
with everted rims. Green glaze on the top and inside
of the rim. Decoration similar to 7 but formalised
into oblique bands.

Also occurs less commonly in a variety of other

utilitarian forms.

? BATH (BPT 46) (Fig 2)

The : of this ware (also known as Bath “A” ware
(Vince 1979, 127-128) and Cheddar “J” ware (Rahtz
1979, 310) is uncertain, but it is likely that it originated
near Bath since this is where the earliest forms occur. It
first appeared in Bristol in the 12th century and was very
common in the 13th and 14th centuries.

Grey fabric, often with lighter =y or buff surfaces.
Highly micaceous with flint and occasional chalk inclusions.
The earliest material tends to have a fairly large proportion
of flint. Generally unglazed, though glazed jugs occasionally
occur.
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FORMS

9, Cooking pots - Generally undecorated cooking pots
with characteristic rim shapes. Hand built, though
the rims were finished on a turntable from the be-
ginning of the 13th century.

10. ‘Honey pots’ - Flat-based vessels with incurving walls
and the same rim forms as cooking pots. A il
round hole in the vessel wall about 2cm above the
base is a characteristic feature. Possibly bee skeps.

REDCLI. . E (Fig. 2)

Redcliffe wares, named after wasters found at Redcliife
Hill in Bristol (Dawson and Ponsford forthcoming), were
first produced around the middle of the 13th century
and continued in production until the late 15th century.
__om the beginning of the 14th century they replaced
Ham Green wares as the most commonly occurring glazed
pottery in Bristol.

Generally a buff sandy fabric with a grey core, though
occasionally reduced pale bluish grey throughout. Some-
times also in a slightly softer fabric which is usually pink-
ish towards unglazed surfaces, or in a much harder fired
fabric. Characteristic inclusions are fragments of shale,
clay pellets, limestone and ubiquitous quartz sand.

FORMS

11. Cooking pots (BPT 85) - Deep. internally glazed
bowl-shaped vessels with evertec  ns.
12. Skillets (BPT 131) - Very like small cooking pots

with distinctive curved thick projecting handles.
Jugs (BPT 118) - Wheel-thrown jugs with external,
us - green glaze. Early jugs such as no. 13 tend
to be tall and highly decorated, with frilled bases
and wide strap handles decorated with slashes.
Bridge spouts are typical, often with ‘bearded’
slash surround. Applied strip decoration is co-
mmon, often in a contrasting dark-firing clay
which appears brown beneath the glaze. Rarely
the colour scheme is reversed with white : s
on red bodies. Between ¢, 1280 and c. 1350 jugs
have a sophisticated appearance. They are highly
decorated have slashed strap handles and splayed
bases. No 14 is a typical example of a jug of this
period. Bands of combing is also a common
decorative technique in the 14th century. Late
jugs, such as no 15, are usually more squat, with
simple bases, uncollared rims and pulled spouts.
Strap handles are broad and undecorated, with
thumbed pads where they join the body. Glaze
is often confined to a bib. Decoration often
includes thumbed applied strips around the
girth and neck.

Also occurs less commonly as bowls and in a large
variety of other forms.

13-15.

MALVERN (Fig 3)

Pottery was manufactured in the region of the Malvern
Hills from the 12th century (Vince 1977), and Malvernian
wares began to appear regularly in Bristol in the late 14th
century and continued until the 17th century. During the
late 15th and early 16th centuries they were at their most
common and the Malvern pottery of this period is among
the most frequently recovered from excavations in the
city.

The fabric is usually pink to pinkish-buff with varying
amounts of sand and some haematite and diagnostic, pink-
ish white rock fragments (which can be quite large), though
the earlier material is often browner and more sandy.
Most vessels are only partially glazed and the glaze generally
appears orange, though it can be greenish, and often over-


















REFERENCES

Barton, K.J., 1963. A Medieval Pottery Kiln at Ham Green,
Bristol. Trans. Bristol Gloucestershire Archaeol. Soc,
82,95-126.

Barton, K.J., 1964. The Excavation of a Medieval Bastion
at St. Nicholas’ Almshouses, King Street, Bristol. Med-
ieval Archaeol. 8, 184-212.

Bennett, J., Ponsford, M.W., and Solley, W., 1975, Falfield,
Heneage Court in P, Fowler and J. Bennett (eds), Archa-
eology and the M5 motorway 3rd report. Trans. Bristol
Gloucestershire Archaeol. Soc., 93, 125-126.

Coleman-Smith, R. and Pearson, T., 1970. Excavations at
Donyatt and Nether Stowey, Somerset. Donyatt Re-
search Group 1970 Interim Report.

Dawson, D.P. and Ponsford, M.W., forthcoming. Salvage
Excavations at Redcliffe Hill, 1970 in D.P. Dawson and
M.W. Ponsford (eds) Ceramics in Bristol 1000 to 1750
Bristol Museum Monograph No. 4.

Good, G.L., 1987. The Excavation of Two Docks at Narr-
ow Quay, Bristol, 1978-9. (ST 586726). Post Medieval
Archaeol., 21.

GOOD & RUSSETT: POTTERY 43

Grant, A., 1983. North Devon Pottery: The Seventeenth
Century.

Ponsford, M.W. 1979, Bristol Castle: Archaeology and the
History of a Royal Fortress. Unpublished M Litt thesis,
University of Bristol.

Ponsford, M.W., forthcoming. Excavations at Greyfriars,
Bristol, 1973.

Pountney, W.J., 1920. Old Bristol Potteries.

Rahtz, P.A., 1979. The Saxon and Medieval Palaces at
Cheddar. British Archaeological Reports, 65.

Vince, A. 1977. The Medieval and Post-Medieval Ceramic
Industry of the Malvern Region: The Study of a Ware
and its Distribution, in D.P.S. Peacock (ed), Pottery
and Early Commerce: Characterisation and the Trade
in Roman ""'i Later Ceramics, 257-305.

Vi A, The Medieval Pottery F: : Types in
B. Cunhffe (ed) Excavations in Bath, 1950 1975,
27-38.

Williams, B., forthcoming. Excavations at 94-102 Temple
Street, Bristol, 1975. Trans. Bristol Gloucestershire
Archaeol. Soc.












CHEW STOKE, Pagans Hill, ST557626

Excavations were undertaken around the well at the Roman
temple site. Prehistoric features consisted of a linear ditch
and, to the NE of this, a hearth, four stakeholes, and dark
soil with large pieces of decayed animal bone. Four sherds,
possibly of Early Bronze Age date, came from the ditch,
There were also many flints scattered across all excavated
areas.

The west outer wall of the temple was relocated and
further observations made regarding its construction.
The well was relocated and a new section was drawn of the
pit and well-mouth. Pieces of oolite limestone and pennant
roof-tile were discovered in the upper two layers of the
well construction pit suggesting that the well was built
at the same time as, or after, the temple itself. There was
no further evidence for either the method of construction
or the well rstructure.

A trench to the south of the temple located a broad
shallow terrace or hollow way which was filled with dark
soil containing hundreds of pieces of animal bone (other-
wise rare at Pagans Hill), and other finds. In the SE corner
of the site a cutting located a robbed out wall-trench, which
extends the line of the southern ‘“long building” further
south. Outside this was much mortuarv material, stucco,
and some late Roman coins and pot _ Inside was a dark
soil and metalling with further finds. (P.A. Rahtz & L.
Watts).

CONGRESBURY, Yew Tree Farm, .. .45627

Large quantities of pottery were found on the edge of a
rhyne. The pottery is of the local Congresbury ware with
a few fragments of undiagnostic kiln furniture. The Cone-
resbury Local History Society conducted a sr ™ ex«
tion and found more pottery but no features. It 1s possible
that the pottery was thrown up from rhyne cleaning and
that the rhyne itself cuts through a waste dump. (V. Pirie).

CROMHALL, Meadow Road, Leyhill, ST696915

Late 3rd4th century tery was found during house-
building in 1970/71. It is possible that there were other
finds in the adjacent road at the same time, not reported.
(W. Solley).

DYRHAM & HINTON, Lowerfields Farm, ST720772

The site of a recently looted Roman burial in a field to
the east of the farm was examined by M. Ponsford, J.
Stewart and A.J. Parker. Much of the skeleton and some
fragments of the lead coffin were recovered. Roman finds
from the vicinity of the farm were also seen, including a
dozen 3rd and 4th century coins. (A.J. Parker).

HINTON CHARTERHOQUSE, ST7958
A watching brief on a gas pipeline revealed Roman finds
between ST79545822 and ST79895817. Most finds, and
also walls and building materials, occurred between ST
79725819 and ST9805817. This is close to the site of a
villa dug by Skinner in 1822, (R. lles).

HINTON CHARTERHOUSE, ST79427644
See Medieval section.

MARSHFIELD, Clift Hill, _ _ . 7427644

Fieldwalking produced a handful of flints and 3 fragments
of Roman pottery. Two 1 x lm trenches were excavated,
one at this grid reference, the other 18m NW. Both were
devoid of finds and features. (A.J. Parker).

MARS| __ _3iLD, Ironmongers Piece, ST798760
The training excavation of the Department of Classics &
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Archaeology, University of Bristol, (1986) aimed to eluci-
date a Sm long straight wall (K. Blockley, Marshfield
Ironmongers Piece Excavations 1982-3, BAR 1985, fig.6,
no.143), which in 1985 appe . to be one side of a build-
ing; a dark deposit visible to the west of the wall was
thought to be an occupation layer. In 1986, no trace of
any return walls could be found, nor any floor. Some areas
of pennant sandstone flags, limestone pitching, and crushed
limestone surfacing were explored, but previous excavation,
exposure to the weather, and subsequent ploughing had
rendered these impossible to interpret or relate closely to
the wall. The wall was quite insubstantial, and it may in
fact be the robbed remains of a yard or fold wall. The
supposed occupation layer on its west side was the fill of
an irregular pit, some 3 x 2m, which contained a mass of
burnt material, apparently the sweepings from hearths,
among it is a variety of chaff, weed seeds of different
types and some cereal grains, together with animal teeth
and butchered bones. Black-burnished pottery from the
pit indicates a date not earlier than ¢ AD 370-380, and it
could be considerably later. No further excavation is
planned on the Ironmon s site. (A.J. Parker).

MARSHFIELD, The Ham, ST78867339

The annual excavation of the Department of Classics and
Archaeology, Uni'  ‘Ly of Bristol, was held here in summ-
er 1987. An area 1> x 10m was opened and the foundations
and floor makeup layers of a Roman building, probably a
small house were found. NW of the house was a boundary
wall of dry-stone slabs, which appear to have enclosed a
roughlycobbled pound or yard (Fig 5). In the SE corner
was found the end of what seems to be av ~ of limestone
slabs set in clay. It rests on a substantial stone footing of
pitched slabs, which is overlain by a deposit full of char-
coal, pottery, and other occupation material; this rubbish,
which includes 2nd century AD pottery, apparently repre-
senting either a yard surface or a destruction layer.

A trial trench, dug some 18m south of the main exca-
vation, showed considerable depth of ploughwash, appa-
rently relatively moc _ overlying a buried ‘“‘turfline”
containing tiny fragments of Roman material.

The house and boundary wall to its rear are of the
same period, and only one structural phase has been identi-
fied. The date of construction is not clear, but fragments
of painted wall plaster and worn roof tiles underlie and
were incorporated into the floor makeup, so an earlier
building, perhaps already ruined and demolished, must
have existed nearby, and this implies a date later than the
earliest years of Roman Britain _ way. In ploughsoil,
just over the cobbling behind the house, was found a coin
of (probably) Valens, AD 364-378, implying some kind of
occupation in the 4th century.

Fieldwalking reports and the lie of the building indi-
cate that this is only part of a substantial settlement which
extends for some distance to the north and east of the
1987 excavations. (A.J. Parker).

OLVESTON, White Cottage, Alveston. _ _ 523878
An extensive spread of Roman pottery has been found to
the north and west of White Cottage. (W. Solley).

PORTISHEAD, Nore Road,
One silver denarius of Faustine (141-161) found in a gar-
den. Exact location uncertain. (V. Pirie).

PUXTON, Oldbridge River, Hewish, ST397641

Roman pottery and a few other finds occurred sporadi-
cally in the clay dumped on either side of the river during
its clearing and cutting back. (V. Pirie).
























BUILDING RECORDING

The national barns survey of the Society for the Preserva-
tion of Ancient Buildings has been continued for South
Avon. Locally this work is being co-ordinated by John
Winstone.

In the following list the surveyors of buildings are
indicated by their initials at the end of the brief descrip-
tinn: LH- Linda Hall, EHDW- E H.D. Williams, JW- John
.. _nstone, RGG- R.G. Gilson.

ALMONDSBURY, 34 & 36 Townsend Lane, ST599840
16th century with 'a superb panelled ceiling of that
date. LH

ALMONDSBURY, Brotherswood Farm, ST616836
Early 18th century. LH

ALMONDSBURY, Court Farm Barn, ST603841
15th century, with later cross-range. Part of grange
to St. Augustine’s Abbey, JW

AUST, Redhill Farm, Elberton, ST599888
Probably late 17th century origins, few old features
survive. LH

BANWELL, Bowman’s Batch, ST384592
Possibly originated as a late medieval longhouse, heavily
modified. EHDW

BANWELL, Wait’s Cottage, ST385593
Probably 17th century. EHDW

BATH, South Bank, Weston
Modified early 17th century house. EHDW

BATHFORD, Sheephouse Farm, Warleigh, ST794639
Probably originally a 15th century non-domestic bhuild-
ing. EHDW _

BITTON, Manor House Farm, Upton Cheyney
Mid 18th century farmhouse with contemporary piers
and later stable. JW

BRISTOL, 3 & 4 Clifton Park
¢ 1840 probably by Chas. Underwood. JW

BROCKLEY, Brockley C ,ST467670
A large T plan house of late 17th/18th century style.
EHDW

BROCKI 7, Chelvey Court Barn, ST466683
Probably late 15th century, perhaps a partial rebuild
of an earlier barn DW

CHELWOOD, Malt House Farm, ST632618
Medieval origins but much altered, one roof truss in-
corporates part of a true cruck blade suggesting that
the present roof is a replacement of possibly early
16th century date. EHDW

CHURCHILL, Old Farm, Front Street, ST436599
Original house is not later than the early 16th century,
reron~fad late 17th century. EHDW

wssJRC..._ L, Mountain Ash Cottage, ST443598
Possibly originated as a 16th century open hall, much
modified. EHDW

CLAPTON-IN-GORDANO, Myrtle Cottage, ST473739 &
Jasmine Cottage, ST475740
Both are probably 17th century in origin. EHDW

CONGRESBURY, West Brinsea Farm, ST441611
A former curing chamber was recorded. EHDW

CORSTON, Manor Farm, ST693651
Medieval in origin, but very extensively modified in the
17th and 18th centuries, EHDW

CORSTON, F _ house
A 16th century central-entry house, with a well pre-
served curing chamber. EHDW

DUNDRY, Lower Grove Farmhouse. ST554673
Probably originally a 16th centi  longhouse, extensive-

ILES & KIDD: AVON ARCHAEOLOGY 1986-7 35

ly rebuilt in the mid 17th century. EHDW

DUNDRY, The Grove, ST550673
17th century house with 18th century facade and later
additions. EHDW

HINTON CHARTERHOUSE, Memorial Hall Cottage
Originally a single storey t™e cruck house, rebuilt ¢
1500 and modified later. EH_ ..

IRON ACTON, The Gables, Park Street, ST678836
Probable late 17th century house with 18th century
dairy and outhouse. LH

IRON ACTON. Green Cottage, The Green, ST677837
Late 18th/early 19th century. LH

IRON ACTON, Sunset Cottage and The Old Farmhouse,
Holly Hill, ST683834
Two houses joined together. The former has a datestone
1741, and The Old Farmhouse postdates Sunset Cot
LH

KEWSTOKE, Norton Courl . .rm, ST346639
Original house is not later than 16th century, heavily
modified subsequently. EHDW

KINGSTON SEYMOUR, Gout Farm, ST394665
¢ 1500 hall of cross-passage plan. EHDW

KINGSWOOD, 35 High Street, ST651838
17th centnrv small house. LH

L..._ESOL__RY, Star Vale Farm, ST739839
Mid/late 17th century. LH

LONG ASHTON, Gatcombe Court, ST526699
This is a large house of complex plan due to a succession
of partial rebuildings and additions from the Middle-
Ages up to the 17th century. EHDW

NAILSEA, Bath Farmhouse, ST450694
Original building not later than 16th century, extensive-
ly reb#¥* in the 17th century. EHDW

NFMPN] __ THRUBWELL, Howgrove Farmhouse,
vao22621.

Medieval in origin, extensively rebuilt in the 17th
century. EHDW

NEWTON St. LOF School House, ST701648
Built in 1698, ._..OW

OLDBURY-ON-SEVERN, Lower Farm, Cowhill,
ST600915.

Early 18th century house with later additions. LH

OLDLAND, 54 High Street, Oldland Cos 1
Late Georgian House two storey house. JW

OLVESTON, The Day House, The Common, ST595871
15th/16th century, possibly non-domestic. A 1st floor
garderobe feeds into a culvert under the house. LH

PORTISHEAD, Kilkenny, Lake Road
Qmall cottage, possibly late 17th/early 18th century.
———W

PUBLOW, Publow Farmhouse, ST622646
Originally a cross-passage house, rebuilt in the 18th
century. EHDW

PUBLOW, Guy’s Farmhouse, Pensford, ST618636
An open hall house modified in the 17th and 18th cent-
uries. EHDW

PUBLOW, Newbridge House and Chew Cottage, Wollard
Orii~ lly a single storey building, possibly a chapel.
EHpw

PUBLOW, Old Tannery, Wollard
A small 3 room cross-passage house, in which the open
hall had a fine late 15th century fireplace. Modified in
the 17th and 19th centuries. The tannery was started
and run by Carthusian monks. EHDW

PI"RTOW, Bridge House, Pensford

obably an early 16th century house with later addi-
tions. EHDW
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A BI-FACIAL POLISHED-EDGE FLINT KNIFE
. .{OM COMPTON DANDO

Alan Sa

The implement (Fig. 1) which forms the subject of this
note was found in September 1987 by Dr. J.H. Bettey, on
the surface of a stubble field in the parish of Compton
Dando (ST642635), south of Bristol. It is a fine example
of one of a class of later prehistoric flint tools YW1 as
‘discoidal polished knives’ (Clark 1929).

DESCRIPTION

Shape: ovoid planform and lenticular cross-section.
Dimensions: length 75 mm, m: ° m width 52 mm,
maximum thickness 11 mm.

Weight: 49.2 grams.

This is presumably a flake tool, though only a small patch
of what is probably the original bulbar flake surface exists
on its ventral face (marked ‘A’ on Fig. 1). If correctly
identified, the direction of the ripples on this original
flake surface would indicate a very broad flake blank.
The nearly parallel longitudinal negative flake scars on
the dorsal surface, which would predate the production
of the flake blank, give no indication of a ‘Levallois’-
style preparatory technique, but the fact that they are
orientated at right angles to the direction of the postu-
lated bulbar surface might imply the flake has been struck
from a ‘discoidal’ core.

The initial blank has received extensive bifacial re-
touch, fol 1 by bifacial polishing of the edges. Da-
mage and slight reflaking of the edge have occurred sub-
sequent to polishing, so that the apparent predominance
of polishing along both faces of one long side is mislead-
ing. The polish was formerly more extensive, although
whether it continued around the whole perimeter is un-
certain and probably unlikely. Certainly the polish was
largely ricted, inter ~ 1ally, to the edges of the imple-
ment and did not encroach over much of the internal
surfaces, where only a few isolated patches of polish
occur on ridges. The polished edge, where it survives
best, is symmetrically bevelled, but with a slightly faceted
effect, which could indicate re-sharpening. Under magni-
fication the polished surface is markedly striated, pre-
sumably from use of a coarse medium in the polishing
process.

The flint is in a fresh and undiscoloured (uncorticated)
condition. A small area of the implement is medium grey
in colour, with the rest a lighter grey, reflecting variega-
tion in the raw material. There is no cortex present and
there is noi . distinctive about the flint itself to give
any indication of the origin of the raw material. The size
of the implement and the absence of any cortex, however,
suggest production from a large core and therefore a sub-
stantial nodule, such as would only have been available
from chalk country to the east of Avon (cf. Grinsell 1985).
It is always possible, of course, that ‘quality’ products such
as this were transported in finished form rather than
manufactured locally.

DISCUSSION

On the basis of its shape, the Compton Dando knife falls
into Type III of Clark’s classification, his ‘lozenge form’ of
the ‘discoidal’ polished knife (Clark 1929, 44 and fig. 6).
The wide variety of shapes these tools exhibit often makes

the term ‘discoidal’ somewhat misleading, as it would in
the present instance, and use of the less specific designation
bifacial polished-edge knife seems preferable.

A number of examples of this insular implement type
have been found and/or recorded in England since Clark’s
classic paper of 1929, and the evidence for their associa-
tions and dating has recently been reviewed most con-
veniently by Cotton (1984). On balance the bifacial pol-
ished-edge knife can be regarded as a late neolithic artefact,
with the few ceramic associations being predominantly
of erooved ware. There is the possibility of continued
n and use of bifacial knives into the middle
bronze age (Saville 1981, 56). As in the present instance,
most of these knives have been discovered as isolated
surface finds, and none are definitely recorded as having
accompanied burials.

the South-West the type remains rare, although the
recent publication of an example from Cornwall (Varndell
1983) has removed former doubts about the extent of
their distribution. The only published parallel from Avon
known to the writer is the knife from Compton Martin
on the boundary with Somerset (Grinsell 1968, fig. 2,
32b). The Compton Martin example is of remarkably «ii-
lar : and shape to the Compton Dando piece. __e
precise provenance of the Compton Martin knife is un-
known, but it may not be coincidental that the same
parish has produced the only late neolithic grooved ware
pottery from Avon (from the Ben Bridge site: Rahtz and
Greenfield 1977, 186). The Compton Dando find en-
courages the view that further evidence for late neolithic
settlement will occur in the area. Settlement evidence of
this period is surely to be expected in a region with such
outstanding late neolithic monuments as the stone circles
at Stanton Drew and the henges at Priddy and Gorsey
Bigbury.
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branch rising in Farmborough, and a southern branch
rising in Timsbury and Camerton. Both tributaries then pass
eastward into Priston where they join to form a common
stream which flows northward, with Englishcombe and
Twerton on the east side, and Newton St. Loe on the west
side. It falls into the Avon about 25 yards north of the
above mentioned ‘Avon Bridge’.

Further evidence of this name from the other parishes
through which the present Newton Brook pas has not
been forthcoming. This might be explained by a notable
clue which appears in the Bath Priory Chartulary of Corpus
Christi College Cambridge. Here the boundary charter for
Priston (BCS . ) opens with the words ‘AErest on Pone
ealdan edenan ford’. ‘- first to the old eden ford’. The
adjective ‘old’ is probably the reason Dr. Grundy offered
the translation ‘the old ford of the heathens’, but an easier
meaning might be ‘the old ford of the river Eden’. Although
the charter clearly states that further upstream the river

was called ‘Lox’, it traces the boundary over the two
tributaries of the stream and only the southern branch is
given this name. The nortl branch (af irds called
Conygre Brook) is not named, but it is possible that it,
and the stream below the confluence, could each have had
names of their own, just as they do today; the latter then
being called Eden. Wherever the ford was precisely, the
charter certainly locates it below this confluence.

The river-name Eden occurs elsewhere. Ekwall’s ‘River
Names’ lists five, mostly in the North or in Wales, the best
known example being Eden Vale in Cumberland. He
considers it to be a variation of the British word ‘Ituna’,
associated with plant growth and fecundity, der . from
the Indo-European word ‘Pituna’ meaning ‘full of sap’. This
would not be out of place for Newton Brook; the Lox and
many other streams in the Bath and Stantonbury area also
have British names.

ST. JOHN’S, KEYNSHAM

A reportonsn T

icale excavations in 1979

Peter Ellis

In 1979 smallscale excavations were carried out in St.
John’s Church, Keynsham, during work relaying floors in
the nave and at the crossing. The importance of the church
and its relationship to the Abbey has been discussed by
Roger Leech (1975, p. 35). Three small areas were excava-
ted by the author, one in the south aisle and two at the

sing abutting the easternmost piers of the nave. In the
south aisle excavation exposed the outline of a brick-ined
nineteenth-century crypt. The two excavations at the
crossing were however carried down to the natural clay
surface, 0.8m below the level of the church floor.

Resting directly on the natural clay was a 0.3m thick
layer of clay containing charcoal flecks, which may repre-
sent a pre-church land surf: A layer of clay containing
stone chippings, 0.2m deep, overlay this layer and both
were cut by the foundation trench of the south pier.

Above this a layer of ble lay below the church floor
with a 0.3m void between. The original, and perhaps
successive floors, and levels contemporary with the present
church, must be presumed to have been removed by floor-
ing in the 19th century.

Although the area examined was small, it would appear
that an earlier phase of church building. in stone, is indi-
cated by the layer of clay with stone lating the present
piers. The foundation trench below the south pier may
belong to a structure earlier th=~ the present church but
still later than =~ early phase. ___z illustration is the work
of Trevor Pearson.

RE]l ___ENCE
Leech, R.H., 1975 ‘Keynsham’, in Small Medieval Towns
in Avon, C.R.A.A.G.S. Survey No. 1, Bristol.
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MEDIEVAL FLOOR TILES FROM WINTERBOURNE

JM. Hunt & J.R. Russell

In March 1987 a number of fragments of decorated medie-
val floor tiles were found by Mr. J.M. Hunt in a walled
enclosure to the west of Winterbourne parish church,
now incorporated in the churchyard but formerly part of
the gardens of the adjacent Winterbourne Court Farm. The
fragments were lying on the ground surface close to the
western boundary of the enclosure (NGR ST 64078103).
With the permission of the incumbent they were removed
for further study. While it is possible that the tiles derive
from the parish church it is equally likely that they were
associated with the manor house which until 1881 occupied
the site of Court Farm. This house was between 1337 and
1601 the seat of the Bradeston family; two medieval out-
buildings, a barn and a circular dovecote, survive largely
intact (Elliott 1936, 77-8), while a group of fish ponds
has been recorded in the valley bottom to the west
(Dennison & lles 1986, 41). The garden enclosure in which
the tiles were found is probably of 16th or 17th century
date; it is bounded at its northern end by a raised, stone-
walled terrace known locally as the “Monk’s Walk” (Elhott
1936, 12).

Two designs, A and B, are represented on the frag-
ments recovered in 1987. Of the 44 pieces found 18 show
design A and 24 design B, the remaining two fragments
being unidentifiable. The tiles of both designs are approx-
imately 19 cm (7.5 inches) square and between 21 and
27 mm thick; the edges have a bevel of up to 129, One
example of design A has been cut diagonally in half. The

A
SEN

designs are executed in a shallow inlay, approximately
Imm deep, filled with white pipeclay. In several examples
of design B the pattern has been stamped into the tile
twice, on slightly different alignments, leading to blurring
and distortion. The faces of the tiles are covered, often
very patchily, in a near colourless lead glaze. Their backs
are generally somewhat uneven, with irregularly spaced
keying hollows of variable size and depth, apparently
scooped out with a knife or sharp-edged spatula.

The tile fabric contains numerous quartz grains be-
tween 0.5 and 1 mm in diameter, together with large
nodules of iron ore, sometimes as much as 14 mm across.
Smaller red or brown inclusions, either of iron ore or
sandstone and up to 5 mm in diameter, are also frequent,
as are white flecks of limestone or shell. Colouration
and hardness are extremely variable, suggesting that the
maker had limited control over the firing process. The
general technical standard of the tiles is at best indiff-
erent, and some have the appearance of wasters. It is
evident, however, from wear on the upper surfaces and
traces of pink sandy mortar on their backs and edges
that most if not all 'of the tiles were in fact employed
for flooring.

None of the tiles found are complete and no joins are
apparent between the available fragments. Despite this the
two designs can be reconstructed without great difficulty.
Design A has four fleur-de-lys facing outwards towards the
corners from- a small central quatrefoil. Design B forms part

1I0cm

Fig. 1  Reconstructed designs of medieval tiles
’ from Winterbourne.




of a repeating four-tile pattern. One corner is occupied
by a rosette from which spring two oak leaves with a cen-
tral (?) acorn. These elements are separated by diagonal
bands from a central semicircular zone containing a further
pair of (?) oak leaves springing from a central stalk. Further
stylized leaves occupy the remaining angles.

The Winterbourne tiles are unusual for their large size,
the majority of English medieval pottery paving tiles being
no more than 14 or 15 cm square. This, coupled with
their relatively low quality, suggests that they may have
been produced as a sideline or experiment by a local
potter or roof-tile maker without much experience of
floor-tile manufacture. From the limited study made so
far no precise local parallels for the designs are apparent.
Technically and stylistically they seem to occupy a position
midway between the products of the 13th century “Wessex
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School”, best represented locally at Keynsham Abbey
(Lowe 1978) and those of the late 15th century ‘“Malvern
School” and its offshoots, represented, for instance, by the
pavements from Canynges’ House, Bristol and Iron Acton
Court (Williams 1979). A 14th or early 15th centurv date
for the Winterbourne examples may therefore be  tati-
vely suggested.
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to post-medieval levels, human & ns were not analysed
and the standing structure of the church was only super-
ficially investigated. Furthermore the excavation records
and finds are admitted to have suffered from inadequate
care and neglect resulting in confusion and lost data.

The publication itself consists of 208 glossy, well
laid-out, pages. It is lavishly illustrated ~ ‘uding some
excellent 19th and early 20th century paintings of the
church and street. There are also ten microfiche sheets
and, unlike many reports where these are used only for
the more turgid details, this volume uses the printed text
as a guide to, and summary of, the full report which is
consigned to the microfiche. Since this reviewer does not
have easy access to a microfiche reader all comments are
based on the printed text.

In addition to the archaeological excavation we are
also presented with a piece of exemplary documentary
research by Frances Neale, who presents all the evidence
for the layout and character of the street from the four-
teenth century until 1940. This provides interesting in-
sights into the inc ing population pressure in the city
as gardens are no longer mentioned after the fourteenth
century and after 1648 houses were constructed on top
of a narrow c=m=tery between the rches’ north aisle
and the road. ...e character of the street also changed
with a mixed community of merchants and artisans giving
way, by the seventeenth century, to one of small artisans.
Unfortunately there were few links between the documen-
tary and archaeological evidence, mainly because most
excavated features in the street were of pre-fourteenth
century date. Particularly disappointing was the failure to
discover correlations between the written record and
materials remains of trac . crafts and occupations: the
sole possible instance being late seventeenth - early eigh-
teenth apothecary phials from where one Robert Meads
may have practised in 1670.

The excavations were divided into three areas: two
along Mary-le-Port Street and the other within the church.
In all areas the stratigraphy was badly cut-about by post-
medieval disturbance: this made phasing and structural
reconstruction rather tentative, depending on structural
similarities, stratigraphy, finds and ‘“inductive probability
evaluation” (p.89). Bearing these caveats in mind it was
possible to trace the development of the site beginning
with a few stray finds of ?prehistoric and Roman date.
The earliest features were several aceramic ditches and
gullies of uncertain date and purpose. Mary-le-Port Street
first appeared in the late Saxon period when it developed
into a hollow way. Occupation of both domestic and
industrial character along its line is indicated by the finds
and also by the corner of a timber building disc ed
next to the church. Metal working, mainly iron, was well
r  sented. Analysis of the animal bones suggested that
much of it represented butchers’ waste and that horn
working was carried out. There was also limited evidence
for her working, wood working, and textile manu-
facture. I'he stratigraphy of the street is complex and vital
to the phasing of the site: it must have begun life as an
open route way, been worn down to form a hollow way,
and subsequently filled up and then been paved along
its whole length. Interpretation of the fill of the hollow
way required consideration of the state of preservation
and nature of the finds in order to suggest that some
layers represented mire accumulating during its use, while
others were ?redeposited dumped rubbish or deliberate
make-up in preparation for paving. Chronological un-
certainties remain such that the initial paving of the street
could be dated between the thirteenth and fifteenth cen-
turies (although the former is the more probable). Possibly
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it was at this time that the timber building next to the
e ch was replaced by a complex of stone walls defining
the limits of the northern churchyard.

The excavations inside the church were seriously
affected by the massive destruction of stratigraphy caused
by eighteenth and nineteenth century brick burial vaults.
The earliest fea s have been tentatively postulated as
belonging to a late Saxon or early post conquest church
on the same alignment as the present building. In reality,
these features are too diverse and ephemeral for any confi-
dence to be placed in this reconstruction: the cutaways
and burnt areas could well be secular and the traces of
stone foundations may belong to the phase 2 church.
Subsequent development consisted of the construction
of a Norman church in the later twelfth century (phase
2). This was followed by reconstruction in Early English
style and the addition of a north aisle in the thirteenth
century (phase 3). It is uncertain whether a south aisle was
ever built; if one was then it must have been demolished
by the early sixteenth century. The late fifteenth century
saw extensive modifications including the construction
of the tower, rebuilding of the north aisle and chancel,
and the construction of a cellared property, possibly the
parsonage, in the corner between the north aisle and chan-
cel (phase 4). Finally, in the early sixteenth century, the
building was remodelled in Late Perpendicular style, and
it was this structure, with modifications, which survived
as a place of worship until 1940.

Arguably the most important result of this excava-
tion is the evidence of pre-conquest occupation along a
route which became a medieval street. This is fundamental
to developing new theories as to the origins of Bristol
(e.g. Ponsford, 1987, 145). A few iron and copper alloy
objects from residual contexts are believed to be of pre-
conquest date. A coin of Harold II was found in a rubbish
dump underneath the street paving. Pottery was common
in all phases, except the enigmatic and aceramic features
of phase 1, and thus a clear understanding of this material
is vital to the medieval, and particularly the pre-conquest,
chronology of Bristol and its environs. Unfortunately the
pottery report is a most confusing piece of work. We are
presented with elements of no less than three fabric series:
one is, presumably, the work of the authors, whilst the
others appear as interpolated comments by Alan Vince or
Mike Ponsford. The authors’ series consists of 27 fabrics
denoted by the letters A - Z and AA; this causes some
initial confusion since Vince’s classifications cross-cut these
and include groups labelled “Bristol A, B & C”. More
problems arise from the frequent references to Ponsford’s
Bristol pott type (BPT) series since this is unfortunately
as yet unpu” " ° d. Consi tion of the sole probable pre-
conquest fabric {(A) brings these difficulties to the fore
since we are informed (p.84) that it subsumes BPT 1 (c
1000-1070) and BPT 115 (¢ 1070-1100); later (p. 147)
we are told that “Fabric A ... does not occur at Bristol
Castle” but that “Castle types ... do occur at Mary-le-Port;
it is therefore suggested that Fabric A and relatives are
earlier than BC groups, with perhaps a starting date in tenth
rather than eleventh century”.

Despite these criticisms, all of which have been made
with the benefit of 25 years of hindslight, and many of
which are freely acknowledged by the authors, I neverthe-
less feel that this is a carefully researched and produced
report which should greatly benefit Bristol archaeology.
One wonders however whether a much cheaper and shorter
popular version would not be worth considering in order
to appeal to tourists and Bristolians alike.

Alexander Kidd






THE HISTORY AND COINAGE OF THE
L...STOL MINT

by Leslie Grinsell, City of Bristol Museum and Art Gallery,
1986. 60 pages. £3.75.

Leslie has made the study of the Bristol mint, from its
inception in the 11th century to the 17th century, very
much his own. This attractively produced book follows
on from several earlier ones he has written on the same
topic. This particular book is, according to its author,
intended to be for a general readership. The book includes
an historical summary with notes on the moneyers and a
brief but interesting account on the various locations of
the mint. The main part lists the coins minted in Bristol
and has photographs of 25 of them. There is also a useful
glossary and full :references given to the coins as
well as to relevant published work.

Rob Iles

REV__¥S 75

THE NAII ~— A GLASSWORKS

by Margaret Thomas, published by the author, 1987.
55 pages.

‘This booklet, based on documentary sources, provides a

very good introduction to the Nailsea glass making indus-
try. The glassworks started in the 1780’s and lasted a little
under a century but they were a large enterprise and had
a considerable impact on the rural locality at that time.
This account provides details not only of the owners,
methods of production and types of glass made but also
has information on the glassworkers and their lives. It
is well illustrated with numerous photographs and plans.

Rob lles

AN ARCHAEOLOGICAL BII'" "OC..APHY FOR
BRISTOL

by Nick Dixon, City of Bristol Museum and Art Gallery,
1987. 58 pages.

This is a useful compilation of references for the area
divided by period and other categories with a site-based
index.
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